IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC01-1275

PAUL ANTHONY BROWN,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN J. BONACCORSY
FLORIDA BAR NO.: 0371025
1326 S. RIDGEWOOD AVENUE
SUITE 6
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386) 253-7660

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of an Order denying
Paul Anthony Brown's Second Amended Motion for Postconviction
Relief after an evidentiary hearing. The following symbols
will be used to designate references to the record in this
appeal:

R: Record on Direct Appeal.

I R: Index to Record on Appeal

R-PC: Record on Appeal from denial of Second Amended Motion For Postconviction Relief.

EX #3, SC01-1275: Exhibit from postconviction hearing which is identified as Copy Taped Interview of Scott McGuire (22 pages Typed).

EX #4, SC01-1275: Exhibit from postconviction hearing which is identified as Copy of certified copy of Judgment and Sentence 12-10-86 — Scott Keenum.

EX #5, SC01-1275: Exhibit from postconviction hearing which is identified as Copy of three page inmate population information — Scott McGuire 10-22-00.

CR #: court reporter page number for deposition of Scott McGuire, October 9, 1996, 49 pages, case no. 92-34756-CFAES, contained in R-PC, V V.

M-PC: Second Amended Motion For Postconviction Relief

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant requests oral argument on these issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

An Indictment for First Degree Murder was returned against Appellant and Scott Jason McGuire on April 6, 1993, by the Fall term Grand Jury for Volusia County, Florida (I R, 4). On August 5, 1996, Peyton Quarles was appointed to represent Appellant(I R, 9). Trial counsel filed a Motion to Suppress statements of Appellant on October 4, 1996 (I R, 40-41). Information charging Appellant with Armed Robbery with a Deadly Weapon and Armed Burglary of a Dwelling was filed by the state on October 8, 1996 for other crimes arising out of the murder or Roger Hensley(I R, 49). A hearing on the Motion to Suppress Appellant's statements was held on October 10, 1996 (R, V. II, 31-97). The court denied Appellant's Motion to Suppress finding that the confession was voluntary (R, V. II, 97). Guilt phase of the jury trial occurred on October 15 through October 18, 1996 (R, 465-1317). The jury returned a verdict of quilty of First Degree Premeditated Murder and First Degree Felony Murder against Appellant on October 18, 1996 (I R, 77). The penalty phase of the jury trial occurred on October 23, 1996 (R, 1318-1457). Sentencing hearing occurred on November 7, 1996 (R, 1508-1520). The sentencing

recommendation was by a vote of 12-0 to recommend the death penalty (I R, 83). Appellant was sentenced to death by the Honorable R. Michael Hutcheson on November 7, 1996 (I R, 113-116). Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on December 9, 1996 (I R, 132).

Appellant's conviction and sentence of death was affirmed on appeal by the Florida Supreme Court. See <u>Brown v. State</u>, 721 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1998). Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was denied. See <u>Brown v.</u> Florida, 119 S.CT. 1582 (1999).

Appellant filed a Motion for Postconviction Relief on November 3, 2000 (R-PC, V. IV, 457-481). A Motion for Leave to Amend was filed November 7, 2000 (R-PC, V. IV, 482-489).

An Order denying Appellant's Motion for Leave to Amend was entered November 29, 2000 (R-PC, V. IV, 490). Appellant's Motion to Continue the evidentiary hearing and Order granting same was filed February 8, 2001 (R-PC, V. IV, 491-493). An Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief was filed February 12, 2001 (R-PC, V. IV, 494-581). Appellant's Second Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief was filed April 26, 2001 (R-PC, V. V, 582-702). The evidentiary hearing was held on April 26 and 27, 2001 (R-PC, V. I-III, 1-420). The court orally denied relief on April 30, 2001 (R-PC, V. III, 421-455). The court entered a written Order denying Appellant's Second

Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief on May 2, 2001 (R-PC, V. V, 726) Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal of the order denying relief of the Second Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief on May 29, 2001 (R-PC, V. V, 728).

Edwin Lester Davis, the trial prosecutor in the case was called as Appellant's first witness (R-PC, V. I, 28). He assumes he provided, to trial counsel, a copy of the taped statement between Scott McGuire and FDLE Agent Miller which was conducted on February 15, 1993, at the Volusia County jail (Id. 30). He listed the two (2) tapes of the McGuire/Miller interview on a supplemental discovery (Id. 32). He was not surprised at how fast the trial was progressing (Id. 35). This trial didn't stand out as being necessarily more difficult or easier than any other trial (Id. 35).

On cross examination Davis, said the strength of the case was that Appellant confessed to committing the crime and there was quite a bit of corroborating physical evidence (Id. 40-41). When Appellant was arrested he was in possession of the decedent's truck. Appellant gave a statement to the FBI indicating he had just killed this man explaining exactly how it happened (Id. 41). Appellant's confession was obtained prior to the co-defendant McGuire's arrest and statement (Id. 41). Appellant gave detailed facts exactly how the murder was accomplished (Id. 42-43). Appellant's statement at trial was

that he went to the victim's apartment and fell asleep and didn't know what happened until (the co-defendant) McGuire awakened him with the knife with blood all over him (Id. 43). Appellant testified that the statements that were attributed to him by the FBI were never made by him (Id. 43). Appellant indicated he stabbed the victim a number of times; he left with Scott McGuire; took the victim's truck; left an ID at a gas station on the way to Tennessee; all that information was corroborated by evidence introduced at trial (Id. 43). Appellant gave a confession to the police and then his story that he told the jury was totally unbelievable (Id. 44-45). He would not disagree with the record if it indicated that depositions were only taken a week to ten (10) days before trial (Id. 46). It is true that if Appellant was present and observed Scott McGuire stabbing the victim he would have knowledge of the specific facts of the case (Id. 48). In Appellant's confession he said he stabbed the victim but the other guy slit his throat (Id. 49). Davis said that when Defendant got to trial Appellant said he wasn't involved in the murder at all and it was all Scott McGuire's fault (Id. 49).

Just before Scott Jason McGuire was called to testify, the state brought up the issue of counsel being appointed for Scott McGuire prior to his testimony at the hearing (R-PC, V.

I, 50-55). State said that McGuire was entitled to be informed of his right not to testify an that it may incriminate him (Id. 51). Counsel for Appellant asked if the court was going to advise McGuire of the consequences if he didn't testify and the state said there weren't any (Id. 52). State said that if McGuire were to get on the stand and say something different then he testified to at trial under oath he could very well find himself facing the death penalty (Id. 52-53). The state said that it was not giving McGuire immunity (Id. 55). Counsel for Appellant said it would be asking the court to find McGuire in contempt if he refused to answer anything (Id. 65). The state said you can't do that (Id. 65).

The court announced "for the record, Mr. McGuire has taken the stand, and he's been referred to as the co-defendant in this case" (Id. 66). The state said that they wanted it understood that they had not subpoenaed McGuire and that they were not immunizing him in any way, that anything he says can be used against him (Id. 67). When asked to state his name the witness said that he'd been instructed to take the Fifth (Id. 67). When asked if his name was Scott Jason McGuire he said he'd like to take the Fifth Amendment (Id. 67). The witness was asked, "Mr. McGuire, did you enter a plea in case number 93-3720, State of Florida v. Scott Jason McGuire, on

August 6, 1993." The witness replied he believed he did (Id. 68). When asked if he had a felony conviction from the State of Ohio in 1989, McGuire plead the Fifth (Id. 71). When asked if it was true that he was convicted of Aggravated Battery (Burglary) in Cuyahoga County in 1986, the witness plead the Fifth (Id. 71). When asked if it was true that he escaped from Mansfield Correctional Institution on February 15, 1989, the witness plead the Fifth (Id. 71). The witness plead the Fifth when he was asked if on the date of the murder he was an escaped convict from the State of Ohio (Id. 71). When asked if he'd ever gone by the name of Scott Kenan (Keenum), he plead the Fifth (Id. 71). When asked if he'd ever used the name of Daniel Scott Davison in Daytona Beach the witness replied yes (Id. 71). He believed he used the name of Scott Steven Michaels in Daytona Beach also (Id. 72). The witness took the Fifth Amendment and refused to answer a question about the total number of felony convictions that he has (Id. 74). He admitted to living at 507 Earl Street in Daytona Beach (Id. 74). He also admitted to having a Florida identification card with that address on it (Id. 74-75). believes he did give that ID card to Appellant (Id. 75). recalled giving a tape recorded statement to FDLE Agent Miller on February 15, 1993, at the Volusia County jail (Id. 75). An audiotape was published before the court and the witness.

said the second voice on the tape sounded like him (Id. 75-76).

McGuire said he believed he recognized his voice on the tape that was played in court (Id. 76). He identified the other voice as Detective Miller, Osterkamp or one of them (Id. 76). McGuire identified his voice on tape two also (Id. 81-82). The tapes were offered into evidence as defense exhibit one (1) and two (2) (Id. 82). McGuire denied stabbing Roger Hensley to death and framing Appellant (Id. 84). The state had no questions for McGuire (Id. 84).

Peyton Quarles was the next witness called on Appellant's behalf. He was trial counsel for Appellant in this case (R-PC, V.I, 88). Quarles recalled taking the deposition of Scott McGuire (Id. 92). He took the deposition of Scott McGuire shortly before trial; very near the trial date (Id. 92).

Between August 6, 1996, when he was appointed and the trial date in early October 1996, to prepare for trial in the case, he took some depositions. He reviewed an autopsy report, reviewed police reports. He met with Appellant on numerous occasions (Id. 93). He did not recall reviewing the tapes of an interview between McGuire and Miller which occurred on February 15, 1993, at the Volusia County jail (Id. 93-94). He didn't know if the state provided him with the tapes of the McGuire interview (Id. 94). He identified Scott McGuire as

the co-defendant who testified at Appellant's trial (Id. 96). On the date of trial Quarles did not have any information that McGuire had been convicted of a felony Burglary in Ohio (Id. 97). At trial, he did not have any information that Scott McGuire was an escaped convict from the State of Ohio (Id. 97). He said this information would have perhaps minimally assisted him at trial (Id. 98). He thought that prior to trial he did review the plea proceedings before Judge Hutcheson in State v. Scott McGuire, case number 93-3720, which were held on August 6, 1993 (Id. 98). He did not know what the tapes were that were referenced on state discovery pleading (Id. 98-99). He thought he received a copy of defense exhibit for identification six (6) from the state which listed aliases for Scott McGuire (Id. 100). Quarles recalled a witness testifying at trial about finding a driver's license an phone card of victim near Earl Street and Oleander in Daytona Beach (Id. 104). He said it would perhaps have been relevant to cross examine McGuire about the fact that his ID card listed an address at 507 Earl Street and the fact that the witness found the victim's driver's license and phone card on the corner of Earl and Oleander (Id. 105). He admitted it might have been proper to cross examine McGuire about his statement that he discarded or lost his clothes he was wearing at the time Hensley was murdered (Id. 105).

did not attached much significance to that inconsistency (McGuire's statements the man was half on bed, half on floor versus. the gentleman was on floor) but he might have cross examined on it (Id. 107). Perhaps it would have been something that would be relevant to cross examine McGuire about his prior inconsistent statement, "what we should do" versus "how would you like to do it" (Id. 110-111). contradiction about selling the crack versus giving away the crack did seem like something that would be relevant (Id. 111-112). Quarles did not think the gun allegedly belonging to Appellant was introduced at trial (Id. 113). He did not remember making the statement in opening that McGuire and Brown don't go play golf together. They don't do things like They do things like consume a lot of alcohol. They do crack cocaine. They hang out on the Boardwalk area. It's not a good life and it's not something that any of us would do that's the way it was (Id. 116). But then, Quarles said he made this statement to the jury because it was true and he was trying to be honest with the jury as far as getting them in a posture or mind set to know what they were dealing with and get it out in the open so that - it would benefit Mr. Brown (Id. 117). This was said to created credibility with the jury, in some fashion make them believe that Brown had not committed the murder (Id. 117). In regard to not objecting to personal opinion of the prosecutor, he said he didn't think it was of any significance as far as the affect it would have on the jury in the verdict and that he wasn't sure that the law in Florida was very well developed as far as attorneys giving their opinion in opening and closing statements (Id. 119). did not know if it was alright to give personal opinions at the time of Appellant's trial (Id. 120). It did not matter for him to argue that blood found on Appellant's shoes matched Hensley's when the lab witness testified that the blood found on Appellant's shoes was only consistent with Hensley's (Id. 131). When asked if he thought that it mattered that there was trial testimony that the unmatched shoe prints at the scene far outnumbered those positively identified with Appellant witness replied that, "you never know with juries." There could have been somebody on there who thought that was very significant. It didn't occur to me at the time, or it still seems rather insignificant (Id. 131-132). When asked if the defense in the case was McGuire committed the murder and that there were far more unidentified footprints at the scene wouldn't that have been helpful Appellant's case to argue that to the jury, Quarles replied it might have been (Id. 132-133). He did not recall arguing to the jury that there's blood all over the place so sure he's going to get some blood on his But he believed it was in Appellant's best interest to make that argument to the jury (Id. 133). His statement to the jury that these aren't people you're going to have over to your house on Sunday afternoon, these are not wonderful people by any means was an attempt, unsuccessfully to get the jury to believe that Appellant had his problems and he's not a stellar citizen and that trial counsel was being up front with the jury about what kind of person Appellant is so certainly, he's not going to mislead them about Appellant not being a murderer (Id. 133-134). He did not know if Appellant agreed to him arguing to the jury that these aren't people you're going to have over to your house on Sunday afternoon for a Labor Day picnic, they're not wonderful people by any means (Id. 134-135). He did not remember if he asked a question at the trial that led to the testimony of the standoff (Id. 146-148). asked why he asked Agent Childs whether Appellant was given alcohol by the agency Quarles replied that it seemed to him that Appellant was unsuccessful in a pretrial Motion to Suppress this statement and perhaps grasping at straws, he was trying to indicate that Appellant was under the influence of alcohol or was bribed in some matter in order to obtain the statement (Id. 149). When asked whether or not it was true that trial testimony indicated that the statement of Appellant was given the day after he was taken into custody by the FBI, so even if he was given a shot of whiskey, that would not have had any effect on Appellant's mental faculties twenty-four (24) hours later, he replied "it seemed that it would be a stretch" (Id. 149-150). Since he moved for a mistrial that would indicate that he thought the standoff testimony was damaging (R-PC, V. II, 154). If he thought any hearsay statements of the victim were damaging to the case he would have objected (Id. 155). He did not agree that the victim's statement that Appellant could sleep with him was not against the interest of Appellant if it was in the context or immediately following the statements by Hensley about being homosexual and what the sleeping arrangements were (Id. 155-156). When asked if he thought that Hensley's statement in reference to him being robbed and putting money down and then Appellant or McGuire robbing him later, whether or not that was detrimental to allow McGuire to make that statement, Quarles replied not necessarily (Id. 156-157). He did not recall whether or not the state, from beginning to end, with all its witnesses used leading questions on direct examination (Id. 161). Quarles did not recall saying to the judge "I've been rather lenient so far. We object to the continuing leading nature of Mr. Davis' questions" and the court sustaining the objection (Id. 161-162). He admitted that two questions the state asked Gogarty did sound like leading questions. He did not object because he did not think it was

of any consequence. He stated that they'd just rephrase the question and get the same information before the jury. It would look like he was hiding something (Id. 164).

Quarles did not object to leading questions with witness Van Hof because he did not think it was damaging to Appellant (Id. 170). He admitted that the questions sounded like the state was suggesting the answers to the witnesses on direct examination (Id. 170). When asked why he would allow that to continue throughout the trial he stated that if he felt that they could get it in by doing it in a more detailed, drawn out way, he saw no reason in not letting them do it by asking leading questions (Id. 170). When asked why in a case where he would say the evidence was overwhelming against Appellant, why didn't he subject the state's case to adversarial testing and let them do it the "hard" way rather than letting them do it the easy way, Quarles said that the more times in which you object, and then the evidence that the prosecutor is trying get before the jury eventually gets before the jury - a pattern along those lines is detrimental to any defendant in a criminal case (Id. 170). He admitted he does not always allow the state to use leading questions from the beginning to the end of a trial (Id. 171). Asked why he allowed the state to use leading questions so much in this case he replied because he determined, in this case and those questions, it would be

detrimental to Mr. Brown to object, have the jury sit there and say, well there's some more damaging or incriminating evidence that Quarles does not want us to hear about Mr. Brown, sit back down, have a ruling by the court and then have the court allow the procedure so that the evidence then gets in front of the jury (Id. 171). Asked if he thought if he had objected two, three or four times that this would have gotten the state's attention in the case he replied yes (Id. 171). He said that every question that he thought was a leading one which he did not object to, he thought that the state would get the evidence in (Id. 173). When asked what was so damaging about the question "I assume all three of you got out of the pickup truck and walked into the room there that this gentleman had there" Quarles replied that he couldn't see anything that was more damaging. He stated maybe just at the time, it just felt like the thing to do. I just felt like getting up an objecting at that time. I think it's an innocuous question and I see no damage that would have been done if I had not objected (Id. 174). He did not object to the Schlaupitz statement that the victim was in slightly worse condition then he had ever seen him because he didn't know what the basis of the objection would be (Id. 179-180). Quarles agreed that the statement was prejudicial but he saw no point in analyzing it as he sat in court. To object would

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