PAUL ANTHONY BROWN, Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC01-1275

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Moreover, that collateral counsel would have made a

different argument does not render trial counsel's argument deficient. See Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995) [That present counsel disagrees as to the strategy employed does not meet the burden under *Strickland*; the "standard is not how present counsel would have, in hindsight, proceeded."]; Card v. State, 497 So. 2d 1169, 1176 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1059 (1987)[counsel not ineffective for failure to obtain and use certain evidence where some of it was presented "just not in the manner appellate counsel feels was most effective."]. Indeed, impeachment evidence which would be largely cumulative does not provide a basis for an ineffective assistance claim. See Ventura v. State, 794 So. 2d 553, 567 (Fla. 2001). Further, due to the overwhelming evidence establishing that the blood on Brown's shoe was Mr. Hensley's blood, Brown can show no prejudice in regard to this allegedly deficient argument. Thus, he has not met the Strickland standard.

Neither does Brown's complaint that his counsel distanced himself from him and lessened the burden of proof with his argument merit relief. He objects that Mr. Quarles told the jury that Brown and McGuire "are not wonderful people." (IB 78). Clearly, the facts of the case had well established that point, and more! Counsel's attempt to take some of the punch from the overwhelming evidence of just how "not wonderful" these

people were by being "up front" with the jury was a trial tactic which should not be second-guessed by this Court.²¹ (R 434). See Argument I, Sub-claim 4, *supra*, at 52-57.

Moreover, even assuming that the performance was deficient in making this argument, Brown has not shown any prejudice meriting relief. Due to the overwhelming evidence of his guilt, the jury's 12 to 0 death recommendation, and the four strong aggravators, including HAC and CCP, weighed against scant non-statutory mitigation, there is no possibility that any deficient performance affected the outcome. Therefore, Brown is entitled to no relief. *See Thompson v. Haley*, 255 F. 3d 1292, 1303-04 (11th Cir. 2001)[claim that trial counsel's closing argument distanced himself from client and dehumanized him before the jury insufficient to merit relief under *Strickland* because "in view of the entire record," there was "no reasonable probability that Counsel's performance affected either the jury's verdict . . . or recommendation of death."].

Brown's complaint that Mr. Quarles did not sufficiently argue the prejudicial effect of Mr. McGuire's deal with the

Mr. Quarles specifically considered the potential effect of such statements - that they might distance him from his client, but made a tactical decision that the potential benefit to Brown in being "honest with the jury" and getting the lifestyle it was unfamiliar with "out in the open" was worth the risk. (R 117).

State is likewise without merit. See Argument I, Sub-claim 1, supra, at 34-36. The record is clear that Mr. Quarles well established the plea agreement with the State. Mr. Quarles' vigorous cross-examination of Mr. McGuire on this issue was more than sufficient to meet the threshold of professional performance.

Moreover, even if the performance was deficient, Brown has failed to, and cannot, show any prejudice. There is no reasonable possibility, much less a probability, that the outcome would have been different if Mr. Quarles had gone into the complained-of specifics of the deal. Accordingly, Brown has failed to carry his burden under *Strickland*, and the trial court's rejection of this claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should be affirmed.

Brown complains that trial counsel failed to argue that the gun he had when arrested was not introduced into evidence. (IB 81). He claims that somehow this would have "affected the credibility of the FBI agents who testified" to Brown's confession. (IB 81). The State is at a loss to understand how pointing out that the gun (which was not the murder weapon) was not entered into evidence in this case undermined, or affected, the Agents' credibility? Certainly, any deficiency in performance for failure to make such an argument would not have

affected the outcome. Brown has failed to adequately plead, much less prove his claim under *Strickland*.

In a claim similar to the preceding, Brown complains that trial counsel failed to argue that "there were far more footprints at the scene of the crime that were not identified with Appellant." (IB 81). He never specifies what prejudice this "omission" caused him, but alleges that although he was at the crime scene, "so was McGuire." (IB 81-82). That Mr. McGuire was present was never in question; thus, the State is at a loss to understand how pointing out that the unidentified footprints at the scene might have been McGuire's would have Neither would the fact that other benefited Brown. unidentified footprints were present have produced any type of reasonable doubt that Brown was not guilty of this heinous murder to which he so specifically confessed. Certainly, any deficiency in performance for failure to make such an argument would not have affected the outcome. Brown has failed to adequately plead, much less prove his claim under Strickland.

Finally, in claim 5, Brown complains that Mr. Quarles did not go into the specifics of the plea bargain with McGuire which he claims included that if McGuire failed to testify "the way he did at trial . . ., the State would set aside his plea . . . and try him" (IB 79). The record does not support that

claim. At trial, the State explained that the deal was that McGuire would testify truthfully, and that the State

would have the ability to set aside the plea, if his testimony at trial would be substantially different. I'm talking a 180-degree turnaround from what he has already admitted to in his statements to police, as well as what his proffer would be today."

(RDA 710). Clearly, the State did not reserve any right to prosecute McGuire for any differences, but only in the event of a complete "180-degree turnaround" from what he had previously identified as the truth. Thus, to claim, as Brown does, that the State would set aside McGuire's plea if he did not testify "the way he did at trial" is incorrect.

The record is clear that Mr. Quarles did establish McGuire's motive to lie. He detailed the deal with the State and secured admissions from McGuire that he was unhappy with Brown for not paying him the money he had promised and for giving McGuire's ID to the gas station attendant. See Argument I, Sub-claim 1, supra, at 34-36. Brown has not carried his burden to prove deficient performance, much less prejudice under Strickland. See Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 699-700 (Fla. 1998)[claim that trial counsel was ineffective because he did not highlight detail the co-perpetrator's deal with and the State insufficient, where counsel did establish the existence of a deal furnishing a motive to lie]. He is entitled to no relief.

10. Brown did not prove that Trial Counsel's performance was ineffective when he allegedly conceded in rebuttal argument that the victim "was gurgling" on his own blood.

Brown complains that Trial Counsel Quarles should not have told the jury, on rebuttal closing argument, that Mr. Hensley "was 'gurgling' on his own blood.'" (IB 82). He claims this was wrong because "the evidence at trial did not support this statement " (IB 82). The State responds that the evidence at trial overwhelmingly supported this statement. Collateral Counsel's claim to the contrary is frivolous!

At trial, McGuire described the horrific scene that met his eyes when he looked into Mr. Hensley's bedroom after hearing "stabbing sounds" coming from there. Blood was everywhere, and he saw Mr. Hensley making sounds "like he was struggling to breathe, gasping his last breaths." (RDA 871). The Medical Examiner testified that Mr. Hensley moved around a lot while being stabbed some 9 or 10 times. (RDA 1087, 1088). He did not "become unconscious or die for a couple of minutes." (RDA 1088). Moreover, the doctor opined that "gasping for breath, and breathing heavily" was "certainly" consistent with the last few minutes of Mr. Hensley's life. (R 1088). Certainly, the prosecutor was entitled to argue to the jury that a reasonable inference from this evidence included that Mr. Hensley was "gurgling." *Craig*.

Mr. Quarles' complained-of comment was in response to the prosecutor's argument that Mr. Hensley was gurgling. Mr. Quarles was attempting to denigrate the prosecutor's argument, trying to paint the comment on the evidence as an attempt to inflame the jury by bringing such facts before them. (R 142). He said: "and the prosecutor can stand up here and talk about gasping and gurgling and gasping and gurgling to make everything just sound horrible " (IB 83). Certainly, Mr. Quarles could not legitimately argue with the facts, so he tried to distract the jury from those facts by accusing the State of being overly dramatic. As he put it, "I made the statement . . . in an attempt to indicate to the jury that prosecution was having to use inflammatory language because they didn't have that good of a factual case." (R 142). Such a tactic is a reasonable, strategic one which should not be second-guessed by this Court. See Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1001 (Fla. 2000)["Counsel's strategic decisions will not be second-quessed on collateral attack."].

Moreover, even if Mr. Quarles' comment was deficient performance, Brown has not carried his burden to establish that he was prejudiced from the deficiency. In his brief, he claims that the prejudice is that "the statements of the prosecutor were not supported by the record and were highly inflammatory"

and "were made only to inflame the passions of the jury." (IB 83). It is obvious that what Mr. Quarles was doing was trying to diffuse any such attempt by the prosecutor. It is Mr. Quarles' comment, not the prosecutor's, which is the subject of this claim. Thus, Brown has not alleged, much less demonstrated, that he was prejudiced by Mr. Quarles' comment in rebuttal closing argument.

Having utterly failed to carry his burden of proof under *Strickland*, Brown is entitled to no relief.

11. Brown did not prove that Trial Counsel's performance was ineffective when he failed to object to allegedly irrelevant and prejudicial testimony relating to the condition of the victim.

Brown complains that Trial Counsel Quarles should have objected when a State witness, who was identifying the victim, commented on the "condition of the victim." (IB 84). Mr. Schlaupitz was asked if the person in the photo was Mr. Hensley, and he replied: "In slightly worse condition then I have ever seen him. But yes, it is. Yes, sir." (IB 84). Brown claims that this evidence should not have been admitted because it is irrelevant. (IB 84).

The State submits that this issue is procedurally barred as it could have been raised on direct appeal. See Rose v. State, 787 So. 2d 786, 799 (Fla. 2001)[extraneous comments of State witnesses considered on direct appeal]. Raising it here is an

attempt to have another appeal under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. "[I]nterjecting allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel . . . to overcome a procedural bar" is inappropriate, and claims which should have been raised on direct appeal will not be entertained in a 3.850 motion recasting them in terms of ineffective trial counsel. Ventura v. State, 794 So. 2d 553, 559 n.6 (Fla. 2001); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 915 (Fla. 2001)[Defendant "may not relitigate procedurally barred claims by couching them in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel."].

Even if the claim is not procedurally barred, it lacks merit. The single comment was not sufficient to inflame the passions of the jury, but if it were, that would provide a very good reason for trial counsel not to object. He would not want to emphasize the comment, or draw the jury's attention to it.

A trial judge's ruling admitting photographic evidence will be upheld unless the defendant shows a clear abuse of judicial discretion in admitting the photo. *Jones v. Moore*, 794 So. 2d 579, 587 (Fla. 2001). "[A]utopsy photographs are relevant to show the manner of death, location of wounds, and identity of the victim"²² Id. Moreover, "[p]hotos that are relevant

According to collateral counsel, the photo in this instance was apparently one from the crime scene, not the autopsy. (R 179).

are admissible so long as their shocking nature does not defeat their relevance." Id.

It cannot be seriously contended that the State was not permitted to establish the identity of the victim. Clearly, that is what it did through the testimony of Mr. Schlaupitz and the photograph. This evidence was relevant.

Despite the implication of the claim on appeal, there is no evidence that the State sought to elicit the complained-of portion of Mr. Schlaupitz's testimony. The State simply asked: "Is that the Roger Hensley you've been testifying about?" (RDA 701). Certainly, the question asked by the State sought relevant, admissible evidence. The answer, while including some extraneous information, answered the question. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the evidence, and Brown has not carried his burden to show that Mr. Quarles was deficient in failing to call attention to the extraneous comment.

In fact, Mr. Quarles testified at the evidentiary hearing that he made a tactical decision not to object. Admitting that the complained-of comment was prejudicial, Mr. Quarles explained that although the subject part of the answer may not have been relevant, asking the court to instruct the jury "please

disregard the fact that he said he's in worse shape than he's ever been" would only draw attention to the prejudicial nature of the comment and would do more harm than good. (R 179-80). This Court should not second-guess such decisions. *See Johnson v. State*, 769 So. 2d 990, 1001 (Fla. 2000)["Counsel's strategic decisions will not be second-guessed on collateral attack."].

Moreover, any error in regard to the extraneous comment was harmless. *See Rose*, 787 So. 2d at 799 n.6[harmless error analysis applicable]. In this case, there is no reasonable possibility, much less probability, that this comment affected the outcome. Brown has utterly failed to meet his burden under *Strickland*. See R 446-47. He is entitled to no relief.

12. Brown did not prove that Trial Counsel's performance was ineffective when he failed to object to allegedly improper comments and argument of the prosecutor during opening statement.

Brown complains that Trial Counsel Quarles should have objected to several comments made during opening statement by the prosecutor. (IB 85). He complains about:

(1) "the fact of the matter will be after you hear all the evidence, I'm convinced you'll return a verdict of guilty . . .;"

(2) "I'm convinced when you hear all the evidence-you don't have to find a person guilty of both necessarily-but I'm

convinced you'll find that Mr. Brown is guilty of first-degree murder . . .;"

(3) "there is Mr. Hensley laying there on the floor, bloody mess everywhere;" and,

(4) Mr. Hensley was "laying there gasping for breath, gurgling, choking, basically dying there on the floor." (IB at 85, 86). Brown claims that the first quoted statements were the personal opinion of the prosecutor as to the guilt of the defendant and were also improper argument, and he complains that the later two were improper argument. (IB at 85-87). Moreover, in regard to the first two comments, he contends that they "constituted fundamental error." (IB 85, 86).

To the extent that Brown argues that the first two comments constituted fundamental error, they clearly should have been raised on direct appeal. They are, therefore, procedurally barred in this proceeding. *See Robinson v. State*, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-98, 700 n. 17, 18 (Fla. 1998)[failure to object to closing argument]. However, as this Court will note in considering the State's response to the petition for writ of habeas corpus filed contemporaneously herewith, the State contends that these statements were not only not fundamental error, they were not error at all. See Case No. SC01-2713, Argument 1, at 4-20. Rather, they were proper comments on the

evidence which the prosecutor reasonably expected to, and did, present at trial. *Id*. "The State clearly is entitled to present its version of the facts in its opening statement." *Rhodes v*. *State*, 638 So. 2d 920, 925 (Fla. 1994), *cert. denied*, 513 U.S. 1046 (1994).

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